Format for an 18 USC 207 opinion

Prepared by Mark Stone, Air Force Materiel Command Law Office

March  2003

[ date ]

[ author’s office symbol ]

[ author’s office address ]

[ author’s office address ]

[ client’s name ]

[ client’s address ]

[ client’s address ]

Dear  [ client’s name ]

X.
This opinion is provided in response to your request for a legal opinion on the application of Title 18, United States Code, Section 207 (18 USC 207), a post-government employment restriction, to your potential employment with ________.

X.
Basis for the opinion.  This opinion is based on…

[the information provided in your request for an 18 USC 207 opinion dated (insert date)]

[the information you provided during our telephone conversation on (insert date)]

[the information that was provided to me by (insert name) on (insert date)]

Also, I note that on [insert date], our office issued you a legal opinion stating that the one-year compensation ban of Title 41, United States Code, Section 423, [(applies) (does not apply)] to you with regard to accepting compensation from [name of company].

X.
Summary of lifetime representation ban.  Title 18, United States Code, Section 207(a)(1), provides that an Executive Branch officer or employee who has, in his or her official capacity, participated personally and substantially in a particular matter (such as a government contract), which involved a specific party or parties (such as a government contractor) at the time of such participation, may not, at any time thereafter, knowingly make any communication to, or appearance before, any officer or employee of the United States, with the intent to influence such officer or employee, in connection with such particular matter, on behalf of any person other than the United States.

X.
Summary of two-year representation ban.  Title 18, United States Code, Section 207(a)(2), provides that an Executive Branch officer or employee who has a particular matter (such as a government contract) actually pending under his or her official responsibility during the one-year period before the termination of his or her government service, which involved a specific party or parties (such as a government contractor) at the time it was so pending, may not, for two years after termination of government service, knowingly make any communication to, or appearance before, any officer or employee of the United States, with the intent to influence such officer or employee, in connection with such matter, on behalf of any person other than the United States.

X.
Definitions.  Here are some key definitions.

The term “participated” means an action taken as an officer or employee through decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation, or other such action.  [18 USC 207(i)(2)]

The term “particular matter” includes any investigation, application, request for a ruling or determination, rulemaking, contract, controversy, claim, charge, accusation, arrest, or judicial or other proceeding.  [18 USC 207(i)(3)]

“An employee can participate ‘personally’ in a matter even though he merely directs a subordinate’s participation.  He participates ‘substantially’ if his involvement is of significance to the matter.  Thus, while a series of peripheral involvements may be insubstantial, participation in a single critical step may be substantial.”  [Office of Government Ethics (OGE) memorandum, “Summary of Post-Employment Restrictions of 18 U.S.C. 207,” February 17, 2000, page 4 (hereafter referred to as “OGE memo”)]
“Official responsibility” is defined as “the direct administrative or operating authority, whether intermediate or final, and either exercisable alone or with others, and either personally or through subordinates, to approve, disapprove, or otherwise direct Government action.”  [18 USC 202(b)]  [An installation commander would generally have official responsibility over all contracts and other particular matters pending at that installation (except for PEO programs and some matters at tenant units).]

“The scope of an employee’s official responsibility is usually determined by those areas assigned by statute, regulation, executive order, or job description.  All particular matters under consideration in an agency are under the official responsibility of the agency head, and each is under that of any intermediate supervisor having responsibility for the activities of a subordinate employee who actually participates in the matter.  An employee’s recusal from or other non-participation in a matter does not remove it from his official responsibility.  A matter was ‘actually pending’ under a former employee’s official responsibility if the matter was in fact referred to or under consideration by persons within the employee’s area of responsibility.  A former employee is not subject to the restriction, however, unless at the time of the proposed representation of another he knows or reasonably should know that the matter had been under his official responsibility during his last year of Government service.”  [OGE memo, pages 5-6]

X.
Follow-on contracts.  The Office of Government Ethics (OGE) has provided the following guidance on when two situations are part of the same “particular matter.”


In determining whether two situations are part of the same particular matter, one should consider all relevant factors, including the amount of time elapsed and the extent to which the matters involve the same basic facts or issues and the same or related parties.  [OGE memo, page 4]

Applying these factors (i.e., time, facts, issues and parties), I note the following facts.   …  Based on these facts, my conclusion is that ____ and ____  [(are)(are not)]  part of the same “particular matter.”

[There is a Federal court decision that addresses the question of whether a government contract and a modification to that contract were the same “particular matter” for purposes of 18 USC 207.  The Court concluded that the contract and the contract modification were the same particular matter.  The case is Medico Industries v. United States, 784 F.2d 840 (7th Cir. 1986).  Accordingly, my conclusion is that contract ____ and the ____ modification to it are part of the same “particular matter.”]

X.
OGE Informal Advisory Opinion 99 X 19, dated October 29, 1999.  This case involves a government employee who was the contracting officer on a 70 million dollar construction contract.  The contractor filed a large volume of claims against the government in connection with the contract.  The contracting officer retired from government service.  Since the contracting officer had participated personally and substantially in the construction contract, the lifetime representation ban applied to her regarding the contract.  The government agency that had the construction contract also had a contract with a consulting company for technical support of the litigation involving the construction contract.

The former contracting officer did not want to go to work for the contractor that had been awarded the construction contract and that had filed the claims.  Rather, she wanted to go to work for the consulting company and then help the government resolve the claims.  The former contracting officer asked the Office of Government Ethics (OGE) for advice on whether she would violate 18 USC 207 if she went to work for the litigation support contractor and helped the government resolve the contract claims.  She contended that, in making communications and appearances in connection with the contract, she would be acting on behalf of the government, and as a result, her communications and appearances would not violate 18 USC 207.

However, the OGE stated that “any communications and appearances she would be required to make to the Government would also be made to advance her employer's business interests arising from its consulting contract with [the agency].  For this reason, we cannot say that [the former employee] shares an identity of interests with [the agency] or that her ‘sole function’ as an employee of [the consulting company] would be to support [the agency's] interest in the contract claims.”

The OGE concluded that the proposed employment by the former contracting officer would violate the lifetime representation ban.  The consequence of OGE Informal Advisory Opinion 99 X 19 is that government agencies will sometimes be precluded by 18 USC 207 from obtaining assistance from former government employees who leave government service and take with them valuable knowledge and experience.

X.
Conclusions.  My conclusions are as follows. 

x.
[ lifetime ban ]   You have described your participation in the ____ matter.  In my opinion, you participated in this matter personally and substantially.  As a result, the lifetime representation ban applies to you regarding this matter.  Some guidance on complying with the lifetime representation ban is provided below.

x.
[ no lifetime ban ]   You have described your participation in the ____ matter.  In my opinion, your participation in this matter was not “substantial” for purposes of the lifetime representation ban.  As a result, the lifetime representation ban does not apply to you regarding this matter.

x.
[ no lifetime ban ]   You have described your participation in the ____ matter.  In my opinion, your participation in this matter occurred before a “specific party” (i.e., a non-government party, such as a government contractor) became involved in the matter.  As a result, the lifetime representation ban does not apply to you regarding this matter.

x.
[ 2-year ban ]   You have described your participation in the ____ matter.  In my opinion, you did not participate in this matter personally and substantially.  However, the matter was pending under your official responsibility during your last year of government service.  As a result, the two-year representation ban applies to you regarding this matter.  Some guidance on complying with the two-year representation ban is provided below.

x.
[ neither ban ]   You have described your participation in the ____ matter.  In my opinion, you did not participate in this matter personally and substantially.  Also, the matter was not pending under your official responsibility during your last year of government service.  As a result, neither the lifetime representation ban nor the two-year representation ban applies to you regarding this matter.

x.
[ neither ban ]   You have described your participation in the ____ matter.  In my opinion, you did not participate in this matter personally and substantially.  Also, although the matter was pending under your official responsibility during your last year of government service, there was no “specific party” (i.e., a non-government party, such as a government contractor) that had become involved in the matter at the time the matter was pending under your official responsibility during your last year of government service.  As a result, neither the lifetime representation ban nor the two-year representation ban applies to you regarding this matter.

x.
[ neither ban ]   You have described your involvement in the ____ matter.  In my opinion, this matter does not fall within the definition of a “particular matter” for purposes of lifetime and two-year representation bans.  As a result, neither the lifetime representation ban nor the two-year representation ban applies to you regarding this matter.


x.
[application of ban to job duties]  I concluded above that the [(lifetime representation ban)(two-year representation ban)] applies to you regarding the ____ matter.  You have described the duties that you would have if you go to work for ____ .

In my opinion, your performance of these duties would violate the [(lifetime representation ban)(two-year representation ban)] because….

In my opinion, your performance of these duties would not violate the [(lifetime representation ban)(two-year representation ban)] because [(they do not involve any appearances before or communications to government employees with the intent to influence them, and involve only behind-the-scenes assistance regarding the matter) (they do not involve any appearances before or communications to government employees with the intent to influence them, and involve only providing purely factual information to government employees and obtaining purely factual information from government employees in connection with the matter)].

Accordingly, the fact that the [(lifetime representation ban)(two-year representation ban)] applies to you regarding the ____ matter [(will)(will not)] preclude you from performing the duties that you have described.


x.
[insert other conclusion(s)]

X.
Guidance on complying with the representation bans.  Here is some guidance on what is and is not prohibited by the lifetime representation ban and the two-year representation ban.  The scope of the two bans is the same.  The only difference is their duration.

a.
Scope of the representation bans.  The Office of Government Ethics has stated:  

Moreover, the restriction [i.e., lifetime representation ban and the two-year representation ban] prohibits only those communications and appearances that are made “with the intent to influence.”  A “communication” can be made orally, in writing, or through electronic transmission.  An “appearance” extends to a former employee’s mere physical presence at a proceeding when the circumstances make it clear that his attendance is intended to influence the United States.  An “intent to influence” the United States may be found if the communication or appearance is made for the purpose of seeking a discretionary Government ruling, benefit, approval, or other action, or is made for the purpose of influencing Government action in connection with a matter which the former employee knows involves an appreciable element of dispute concerning the particular Government action to be taken.  Accordingly, the prohibition does not apply to an appearance or communication involving purely social contacts, a request for publicly available documents, or a request for purely factual information or the supplying of such information.  [OGE memo, page 3]


b.
Behind-the-scenes assistance.  “A former employee is not prohibited by this restriction [i.e., the lifetime representation ban and the two-year representation ban] from providing ‘behind-the-scenes’ assistance in connection with the representation of another person.”  [OGE memo, page 3]


c.
Example from OGE regulation.  Here is some guidance from an OGE regulation on the application of the lifetime representation ban.

Example 1:  A Government employee, who participated in writing the specifications of a contract awarded to Q Company for the design of certain education testing programs, joins Q Company and does work under the contract.  She is asked to accompany a company vice-president to a meeting to state the results of a series of trial tests, and does so.  No violation occurs when she provides the information to her former agency.  During the meeting a dispute arises as to some terms of the contract, and she is called upon to support Q Company's position.  She may not do so.  If she had reason to believe that the contractual dispute would be a subject of the meeting, she should not have attended.  [5 CFR 2637.201(b)(5)(Example)]


d.
Prohibited appearances.  You may not attend any meeting of contractor and government personnel where the subject of the meeting is a disagreement or dispute between the contractor and the government, i.e., where the meeting will be, or is likely to be, adversarial in nature.  Further, you may not attend any meeting of contractor and government personnel if the subject of the meeting involves the seeking of any discretionary action by the government (e.g., an Engineering Change Proposal, a request for an equitable adjustment, or a contract claim against the government).  However, you are not prohibited from appearing at a deposition, trial or hearing in connection with the contract, if you will be giving testimony under oath or making statements required to be made under penalty of perjury.


e.
Permitted appearances.  You may attend any meeting of contractor and government personnel, other than the type of meeting described above as a prohibited appearance.


f.
Prohibited communications.  You may not communicate with government employees, present the contractor's position, or act as the contractor's negotiator, spokesperson or representative, in connection with a disagreement or dispute between the contractor and the government, i.e., in connection with a matter that is adversarial in nature.  Further, you may not communicate with government employees if the subject of the communication involves the seeking of any discretionary action by the government (e.g., an Engineering Change Proposal, a request for an equitable adjustment, or a contract claim against the government).  This applies to all means of communication, including personal conversations with government employees, telephone conversations with government employees, meetings with government employees, and written or electronic correspondence with government employees or agencies.


g.
Permitted communications.  You may communicate with government employees in connection with all routine, non-adversarial matters related to the performance of the contract.  For example, you may supply to government employees purely factual information concerning the contract to which the ban applies (e.g., an informational briefing).  You may also request from government employees purely factual information concerning the contract to which the ban applies.  In short, you may communicate with government employees on any matter concerning the contract to which the ban applies, except for those communications that are described above as prohibited communications.

X.
One-year “no contact” rule.  Title 18, United States Code, section 207(c), provides that “senior employees” may not, for one year after leaving their agency, make any communication to, or appearance before, any employee of their “former agency,” with the intent to influence that employee, on behalf of any third person, in connection with any matter on which the third person seeks official action by their former agency.

“Senior employee” includes General/Flag Officers and Senior Executive Service (SES) employees who are Level 5 or Level 6.  For “senior employees” employed by the  [(Air Force)(name of Federal agency)], “former agency” means the [(Air Force)(name of Federal agency)].

Thus, under the one-year “no contact” rule, a “senior employee” employed by the [(Air Force)(name of Federal agency)] is prohibited from making a communication to, or an appearance before, any [(Air Force)(name of Federal agency)] employee, with the intent to influence that employee, on behalf of a third party, in connection with any matter on which the third party seeks official action by the [(Air Force)(name of Federal agency)].  The rule applies even to matters in which you had no involvement while employed by the  [(Air Force)(name of Federal agency)].  The rule does not prohibit “behind-the-scenes” assistance to a contractor or other non-government organization.

X.
One-year bans on assisting foreign entities.  Title 18, United States Code, section 207(f), contains two restrictions on “senior employees.”  “Senior employee” has the same definition for the bans on assisting foreign entities (18 USC 207(f)) as it does for the one-year no-contact rule (18 USC 207(c)).
First, senior employees may not, for one year after leaving Federal service, represent a foreign government or foreign political party before any department or agency of the United States.  However, this restriction does not prohibit “behind-the-scenes” assistance.

Second, senior employees may not, for one year after leaving Federal service, aid or advise a foreign government or foreign political party with the intent to influence an official decision by any department or agency of the United States.  “Behind-the-scenes” assistance is prohibited for purposes of this second restriction.
X.
Mandatory disclaimer.  Be advised that the [(Department of the Air Force)(name of Federal agency)] does not have authority to issue authoritative opinions on the restrictions contained in Title 18 of the United States Code.  The sections of Title 18 are Federal criminal statutes, the interpretation of which falls under the jurisdiction of the Department of Justice.  Accordingly, you should be aware that opinions we may render on the specific application of sections of Title 18 are not binding on the Department of Justice.  [Note:  It is our office policy to include this paragraph in every legal opinion we issue on the application of 18 USC 207.]

X.
Terminal leave.  Title 18, United States Code, sections 203 and 205, prohibit military officers and Federal civilian employees from representing contractors or other non-Federal organizations before any Federal agency.  This rule applies to [(military officers on terminal leave)(Federal civilian employees on leave)].  Therefore, Federal law prohibits you from engaging in any such representation while you are on [(terminal leave)(leave)].
X.
[If you have any questions, please call me at ____ .]   [If you have questions, please call me at  ____ , or your Executive Officer may call  ____  at ____ .]

Sincerely

[ signature block ]

Attachments:

1.

2.

3.
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